Supreme Court

of the

State of Florida

Case No. SC12-323 Lower Tribunal Case No. 10-14714

WASHINGTON NATIONAL INSURANCE CORPORATION, Successor in Interest to Pioneer Life Insurance Company,

Appellant,

– v. –

SYDELLE RUDERMAN, by and through her Attorney-in-fact, Bonnie Schwartz, SYLVIA POWERS, by and through her Attorney-in-fact, Les Powers, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, KATE KOLBER, ROBERT SCHWARZ, BLUMA SCHWARZ,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN CASE NO. 11-11416

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns a Limited Benefit Home Health Care Coverage Policy (the "Policy") issued to Sydelle Ruderman ("Ruderman"), Sylvia Powers ("Powers"), and other class members by WNIC's predecessor, Pioneer Life Insurance Company. The Policy is straightforward. It provides limited home health care ("HHC") benefits. The Policies were generally sold to persons in their 50's and 60's, and were designed to pay benefits when the insureds aged, became sick or injured, and needed caregivers to provide services (such as bathing, dressing, feeding, etc.) in their residences.

The Policy provides, at the highest level of coverage, a "Daily Benefit" of \$180/day. The Policy expressly increases the Daily Benefit by 8% a year. As a result of the increase, the Daily Benefit would grow over time to more than \$500/day. The 8% escalator provided insureds with the ability to obtain "24/7" care when they got older, became sick or injured, and required extensive care.

The Policy contains two "caps" on the amount of Daily Benefits the insureds can obtain during the life of the Policy. *First*, there is a "per occurrence" cap on the Daily Benefits of \$150,000. That is, if an insured becomes injured or ill and needs benefits, the insured's coverage for that specific occurrence or condition will be limited to \$150,000. *Second*, there is a "lifetime maximum cap" on the Daily Benefits of \$250,000.

Plaintiffs alleged that the 8% increase to the Daily Benefit also increased the two caps on the Daily Benefits. Although it is undisputed that the Policy itself expressly applies the 8% increase only to the Daily Benefit, Plaintiffs contend that the Certificate Schedule attached to the Policy, read in isolation from the remainder of the Policy, was ambiguous on this point. Under the Plaintiffs' interpretation, the "limited" HHC Policy with caps of \$150,000 and \$250,000 is really a limitless HHC policy because the caps quadruple over 20 years when subjected to an 8% escalator, providing an essentially unlimited amount of coverage.

Two previous decisions from federal district courts (in Florida and Georgia) held that the Policy was unambiguous and that the 8% increase did not apply to the caps on Benefits, but only the Daily Benefit. This time around, the district court held that the Policy was ambiguous. After that ruling, WNIC amassed a mountain of unchallenged extrinsic evidence demonstrating that WNIC and the Policyholders (as well as the Florida insurance regulators that approved these policies) understood that the caps on the Daily Benefits would not increase. Every document, from the Actuarial Memoranda submitted by WNIC to Florida's regulators that approved the product, forms and brochures, to letters written many years later by the Plaintiffs, reflects the understanding that the 8% increase did not apply to the caps.

The district court ruled, however, that under Florida law the court could not consider extrinsic evidence in interpreting an ambiguous insurance contract. Rather, the district court held that, under Florida law, a court must disregard extrinsic evidence and automatically construe any policy in favor of the insured, even if that means interpreting the policy in a manner that contrary to both the insured's and insurer's understanding of the policy. The district court thus entered summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and a class of Policyholders despite being aware that its decision would force WNIC to provide coverage in excess of the policyholders' expectations.

WNIC appealed the district court's decision to the Eleventh Circuit, arguing *first*, that the Policy is unambiguous, and *second*, that if it is ambiguous the unchallenged extrinsic evidence precluded Plaintiffs from obtaining summary judgment. The Eleventh Circuit certified all issues in the case to this Court, including whether the Policies are ambiguous and whether Florida law allows consideration of extrinsic evidence to clarify an ambiguous insurance contract.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Policies. Plaintiffs purchased "Limited Benefit" HHC Policies from WNIC in the early 1990's. DE-159-4; DE-159-5. The Policies provide for reimbursement of certain qualified HHC expenses. The Policies provide a "Home

3

Health Care Daily Benefit" of \$180/day. DE-159-4 at 5; DE-159-5 at 4. The Daily Benefit is the only benefit available under the Policies.

There are two caps on benefits available under the Policies. The Policies provide that the "Home Health Care Daily Benefit" "*will be limited* to the Per Occurrence Maximum Benefit for each injury or sicknesses and the Lifetime Maximum Benefit Amount for ALL injuries and sicknesses which are shown in the certificate schedule." DE-159-4 at 7; DE-159-6 at 6 (p. 5 of Policy) (emphasis added). The "Per Occurrence" and "Lifetime" "Maximums" therefore represent the "limit" on the "Home Health Care Daily Benefit" payable under the Policy.

The Policy contains a feature known as the "Automatic Daily Benefit Increase." Page 6 of the Policy states:

> **AUTOMATIC DAILY BENEFIT INCREASE**. On each policy anniversary, we will increase *the Home Health Care Daily Benefit* payable under this policy *by the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage* shown on the schedule page.

DE-159-4 at 8; DE-159-5 at 7 (emphasis added). Hence, the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage serves to increase the Home Health Care Daily Benefit.

Each Policy contains a Certificate Schedule that identifies the Daily Benefit, the Per Occurrence Cap, the Lifetime Cap and the Automatic Daily Benefit Increase. The insureds could purchase Policies with different Daily Benefits and caps. *See* DE-159-19 ¶ 11. Under the terms of the Certificate Schedule, most insureds had a "Home Health Care Daily Benefit" of \$180/day, a Per Occurrence cap of \$150,000, and a Lifetime Maximum cap of \$250,000. On the Certificate Schedule, it states that the "Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage" means that "Benefits Increase by 8% each year." The phrase "Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage" is expressly defined in the text of the Policy as only serving to increase the Daily Benefit, making it clear that what increases by 8% each year is the Daily Benefit.

In addition to clearly stating that the 8% increase applies to the Daily Benefit, the Policy nowhere states that the 8% increase applies to the Per Occurrence or Lifetime Maximum limits. Plaintiffs nonetheless contend that the 8% increase applies not only to the Daily Benefit, as expressly set forth in the Policies, but also to the Per Occurrence and Lifetime Maximum caps set forth in the Policies.

Plaintiffs' entire case hinges on an alleged ambiguity on the Certificate Schedule attached to the Policy. According to Plaintiffs, DE-30 ¶ 15, DE-58 at 6, the use of the term "Benefits" in the plural (rather than the singular "Benefit") in the phrase "Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage . . . Benefits increase by 8% each year" means that the caps on the Daily Benefits are subject to the 8% increase as well, even though the Policy form itself makes clear that all WNIC will do is "increase *the Home Health Care Daily Benefit* payable under this policy *by the* Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage shown on the schedule page." DE-159-4 at 8; DE-159-5 at 7.

Prior Litigation Over The Policies. Two other district courts (including, a previous decision by Judge Cohn, the district judge in this case) have, contrary to the decision of the district court here, ruled that the Policy is unambiguous and that the 8% increase does not apply to the Policy caps, but only to the Daily Benefit.¹ The Eleventh Circuit initially reversed one of these cases, *Gradinger I. See Gradinger v. Wash. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 250 F. App'x 271 (11th Cir. 2007) (hereinafter "*Gradinger II*") (DE-30 at 40–49). However, before a mandate issued, this Court vacated and withdrew its opinion. *Gradinger*, Case No. 06-16164-BB (11th Cir. Nov. 27, 2007) (hereinafter "*Gradinger III*") (DE 18-4).

The Federal Decisions In This Case. In a short decision in which the district court did not address a single case cited by WNIC, the court held that the undisputed evidence of the parties' intent was irrelevant. The district court held that "Defendant cites a significant number of cases from both Florida and other jurisdictions" that allow courts to consider extrinsic evidence to interpret ambiguous insurance contracts and that "Defendant's argument is both well-researched and persuasive." DE-171 at 6. Nonetheless, the district court granted

¹ *Rountree v. Wash. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, No. 607CV014, 2007 WL 1500293, at *4 (S.D. Ga. May 21, 2007); *Gradinger v. Wash. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, Case No. 06-60227-CIV-COHN (S.D. Fla. Oct. 30, 2006), at 7 (hereinafter "*Gradinger I*") (DE-18-3).

Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment "adopt[ing] the Eleventh Circuit's reasoning set forth in *Gradinger II*" rather than independently analyzing Florida law. *See Id*.

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit ignored its earlier withdrawn opinion in *Gradinger II* and determined that this case presented an "unsettled question of Florida law." *Ruderman v. Wash. Nat'l Ins. Corp.*, 671 F.3d 1208, 1212 (11th Cir. 2012). "[T]o avoid making unnecessary *Erie* 'guesses' and to offer the state court the opportunity to interpret or change existing law," the Eleventh Circuit certified the question of whether the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage applied to the Lifetime Maximum Benefit Amount and the Per Occurrence Maximum Benefit. *Id.* The Eleventh Circuit specifically recognized that to resolve this question, this Court would have to determine whether the policy was ambiguous and, if so, whether courts should first attempt to resolve the ambiguity through the examination of extrinsic evidence. *Id.*

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Policy is not ambiguous. The Policy is absolutely clear that the 8% escalator only applies to the Daily Benefit, and not to the two separate caps on the Daily Benefits.

Assuming an ambiguity, however, the district court erred in refusing to consider extrinsic evidence and granting summary judgment to the class. The

7

district court held that, under Florida law, courts may not consider extrinsic evidence in cases involving ambiguous insurance contracts. According to the district court, the insured necessarily wins every case involving ambiguities in insurance policies because under the *contra proferentem* rule all ambiguities must be construed in favor of the insured. That is not the law of Florida. Settled principles of Florida law and insurance law generally establish that *contra proferentem* is a doctrine of last resort, used only as a tie-breaker when extrinsic evidence fails to resolve the ambiguity.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER CERTIFIED QUESTIONS 1(A) AND (C) BY HOLDING THAT THE POLICY UNAMBIGUOUSLY ESTABLISHES THAT THE 8% INCREASE DOES NOT APPLY TO THE POLICY CAPS

An insurance contract must be construed in its entirety, striving to give every

provision meaning and effect. *See Excelsior Ins. Co. v. Pomona Park Bar & Package Store*, 369 So. 2d 938, 941 (Fla. 1979). If the policy is unambiguous, it governs. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Pridgen*, 498 So. 2d 1245, 1248 (Fla. 1986). The Policy here is clear. The Automatic Benefits Increase Percentage (*i.e.*, the 8% escalator) is expressly only applicable to the Home Health Care Daily Benefit, as follows:

AUTOMATIC DAILY BENEFIT INCREASE: On each policy anniversary, we will increase *the Home Health Care Daily Benefit* payable under this policy by *the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage shown on the schedule page.*

DE-159-4 at 8, DE-159-5 at 7 (emphasis added).

The Policy contains no similar provision that would extend the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage to the Per Occurrence Maximum and the Lifetime Maximum Benefit. To the contrary, the Policy is clear that the Home Health Care Daily Benefit "*will be limited*" by the Per Occurrence Maximum and the Lifetime Maximum caps. DE-159-4 at 7; DE-159-5 at 6 (emphasis added). That is, the Per Occurrence Maximum and Lifetime Maximum are caps on benefits, not benefits themselves. The only benefit under the policy is the Daily Benefit.

Plaintiffs allege that the Schedule provides for an escalation of the Lifetime Maximum Benefit and the Per Occurrence Maximum Benefit. Plaintiffs contend the clause in the Schedule, "AUTOMATIC BENEFITS INCREASE PERCENTAGE Benefits increase by 8% each year," means that the two caps on the Daily Benefits increase along with the Daily Benefit. But that is wrong.

The clause in the certificate, "AUTOMATIC BENEFITS INCREASE PERCENTAGE Benefits increase by 8% each year," must be read in conjunction with the remainder of the Policy, and in particular, the specific definitions described above. *Swire Pac. Holdings, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co.*, 845 So. 2d 161, 166 (Fla. 2003). Those definitions expressly apply the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage to the Home Health Care Daily Benefit, *not* to the Lifetime Maximum Benefit or the Per Occurrence Maximum Benefit. In fact, the term "Automatic Benefits Increase Percentage" is used *just once* in the Policy, and that is in connection with the Daily Benefit. DE-159-4 at 8, DE-159-5 at 7. The federal courts have found an ambiguity by improperly focusing solely on the certificate and ignoring the remainder of the Policy; when read in totality, it is clear that the 8% escalator does not apply to the caps. *Swire Pacific Holdings, Inc.*, 845 So. 2d at 165 (courts should "avoid simply concentrating on certain limited provisions to the exclusion of the totality of others").

In any event, because the Daily Benefit *is* expressly subject to the automatic benefits increase while the Lifetime Maximum Benefit and Per Occurrence Maximum Benefit *are not*, the Policy cannot be read to apply the increase to both. *See Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley*, 666 So. 2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996); *Shumrak v. Broken Sound Club, Inc.*, 898 So. 2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *In re Celotex Corp.*, 487 F.3d 1320, 1334 (11th Cir. 2007).²

Plaintiffs make much of the fact that the phrase, "Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage: Benefits increase by 8% each year" uses the plural "Benefits". But it does so for an obvious reason. The plural of "Daily Benefit" is "Daily Benefits." The word "Benefits" simply refers to multiple days (plural) of receiving the "Daily Benefit." There is no "Dailies Benefit" or anything like that.

² Further, the Schedule is designed to supplement, not supplant, the specific definitions of the benefits in the Policy. A "schedule" provides a more detailed showing of matters that are referred to in a document, but does not change a document's terms. *See* BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1346 (7th ed. 1999). A schedule in an insurance policy must be read in conjunction with the rest of the policy. *See Fabricant v. Kemper Indep. Ins. Co.*, 474 F. Supp. 2d 1328, 1332–33 (S.D. Fla. 2007). The Schedule here "fills in" the specific amounts of benefits and limitations that are more fully described in the Benefits section of the Policy. But it does not *alter* the Policy terms.

This construction also makes sense when considering that the only benefit under the Policy is the Daily Benefit.³

Of course, the Certificate could have been written differently, even better. But insurance policies do not have to be perfect in order to be unambiguous, and the fact that they could have been written differently is of no moment. Swire Pac. Holdings, Inc., 845 So. 2d at 166; Pridgen, 498 So. 2d at 1248. Far from trying to find an ambiguity, the Court should try to reconcile any apparent inconsistencies before declaring a policy ambiguous. Excelsior Ins. Co., 369 So. 2d at 941. "[T]he policy should receive a reasonable, practical and sensible interpretation consistent with the intent of the parties - not a strained, forced or unrealistic construction." Siegle v. Progessive Consumers Ins. Co., 819 So. 2d 732, 736 (Fla. 2002) (citing Gen. Accident Fire & Life Assur. Corp. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 260 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). The district court's focus on the "s" in benefits to conclude that the Policy is ambiguous, thus transforming it into a lifetime HHC benefits policy, is unreasonable, strained and unrealistic.

Although the Policies should be enforced according to their plain language, it is important to understand *why* the Policies were written the way they were,

³ What's more, the absence of the negative statement, "the Automatic Benefit Increase Percentage does *not* apply to …" does not create an ambiguity. Contracts rarely contain such negative statements. The Policy language that the escalator applies to the Daily Benefit is not ambiguous by the absence of language saying it does not apply to the caps.

namely, to provide an increase to the Daily Benefit but not the caps on the Daily Benefits. According to the unchallenged testimony of Mr. Weinberg, who sold hundreds of these policies in Florida (including to several of the plaintiffs), the actual selling point of the Policies was that "[t]he 8% escalation of the Home Health Care Daily Benefit ensured that the maximum amount of daily benefits reimbursable under the Policy would be sufficient to cover expenses for 24 hour care, if the insured ever needed such coverage." DE-159-20 ¶ 5. That is, the escalation of the Daily Benefit allowed the insureds to accelerate the maximum coverage under the Policy so that, if they needed around-the-clock care, they would be able to obtain it. Mr. Weinberg made the extent of this Policy feature clear to his clients. *Id.* at ¶ 15 ("[m]y clients consistently recognize and understand that the maximum policy limits are not subject to the 8% cost of living increase").

This is confirmed by Dawn Helwig, the actuary who prepared the actuarial memorandum submitted to Florida regulators to have the Policy approved. As explained by Ms. Helwig, the average policyholder was only expected to receive benefits for 6 to 7 months. DE-159-19 at ¶ 17. If the daily benefit was capped at \$180, the average policyholder would only receive \$30,000 - \$40,000 in benefits under the Policy. By increasing the daily benefit by 8% per year, the daily benefit would increase to over \$500/day when the insureds got older and would need benefits, thus doubling or even tripling the benefits available to policyholders

when they needed them. *Id.* Other policies in the market at the time either did not provide for an escalation of the daily benefit, or it was only available for a substantial additional premium. DE-159-20 \P 6.⁴

The 8% escalator was never designed to increase the caps from \$150,000 and \$250,000 to over \$1,000,000 each, and it is entirely inappropriate to interpret the Policy to accomplish that result. If a Policyholder purchased the Policy at age 55, by the time he or she turned 80 the per occurrence cap would, if the escalator applied, skyrocket to \$1,027,271, and the lifetime maximum cap would balloon to \$1,712,188. Assuming that "24/7" care costs \$400/day, the Policy would provide 4,280 days – nearly 12 years -- of "24/7" care. That is a massive amount of coverage, beyond what any Policyholder would ever need, and the premiums on these Policies were not designed to absorb such massive payouts to insureds.

⁴ Similarly, other policies at the time measured benefits simply in terms of days (*e.g.*, 180 days of coverage at a maximum of \$150/day), so that if an insured spent \$50 on HHC, an entire day's worth of coverage was lost. DE-159-19 at ¶ 16The selling point of these Policies was twofold: (1) the Daily Benefit would increase to maximize the benefits available to policyholders during the limited period of time when benefits would be needed, so they could obtain "24/7" care; and (2) the total amount of coverage would not be measured by "days" the policyholder received coverage, but by a total dollar amount that would provide the policyholder with the flexibility of using HHC on a limited basis without losing a full day's worth of coverage. *Id*.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER CERIFIED QUESTION 1(B) BY REAFFIRMING THE BASIC PRINCIPLE OF FLORIDA LAW THAT THE GOAL OF CONTRACT CONSTRUCTION IS TO IMPLEMENT THE INTENT OF THE PARTIES

In its decision, the Eleventh Circuit suggested that there was a conflict between this Court's decision in *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 756 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000) and *Excelsior Ins. Co.*, 369 So. 2d at 938. *Ruderman*, 671 F.3d at 1211. The court described *Anderson* as standing for the general proposition that ambiguities should automatically be construed against the insurer, while *Excelsior* stood for the proposition that courts may consider extrinsic evidence to clarify an ambiguous insurance contract. *Id*.

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