Supreme Court of Florida

January Term 2012

No. SC12-323

WASHINGTON NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

Petitioner,

v.

SYDELLE RUDERMAN, et al.,

Respondents.

L.T. 10-14714
Certified Question from the U. S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Gary M. Farmer, Sr.
FARMER JAFFE WEISSING EDWARDS FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.
Counsel for Respondent on Review of Certified Question
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
954.524.2820 Main
954.524.2822 Fax
561.676.3858 Cell
farmergm@att.net

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

"There is no reason why such policies cannot be phrased so that the average person can clearly understand what he is buying. And so long as these contracts are drawn in such a manner that it requires the proverbial Philadelphia lawyer to comprehend the terms embodied in it, the courts should and will construe them liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer to protect the buying public who rely upon the companies and agencies in such transactions." [e.s.]

181 So.2d at 528. Once again, this Court's rationale for this principle makes extrinsic evidence inappropriate to its function.

Two years after that in *Continental Casualty Company v. Gold*, 194 So.2d 272, 276 (Fla. 1967), this Court quoted a standard legal encyclopedia for the proposition that in "the general rule that ambiguous or uncertain provisions will be construed most favorably to the insured is applied" but cited no Florida cases. Another two years later in *DaCosta v. General Guaranty Insurance Company of Florida*, 226 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1969), this Court relied on the rule that where two interpretations equally fair may be given, that which provides the greater indemnity will prevail, citing *Elliott*.

In *Harris v. Carolina Life Insurance Company*, 233 So.2d 833, 834 (Fla. 1970), this Court was "mindful of the rule requiring that ambiguous provisions of an insurance policy be liberally construed in favor of the insured" but once again cited none of the many cases discussed above. Then in *Stuyvesant Insurance Company v. Butler*, 314 So.2d 567, 570 (Fla. 1975), this Court held that it "has consistently adhered to the principle that ... if uncertainty is present in a policy, it should be construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured." 314 So.2d at 570 (citing *Continental Casualty, Harris* and *Aetna*).

In this extended history of the insurance ambiguity principle, one must note the several decisions making clear that any admission of extrinsic evidence to resolve an ambiguity in an insurance policy would be incompatible with the rationale for the rule. The Court will therefore consequently also note the utter absence thus far

of any holding that the ambiguity principle must first give way to the admission of extrinsic evidence to resolve an ambiguity apparent in the policy. For three quarters of a century this Court's cases had made no holding that could possibly be read to require that extrinsic evidence be first admitted to resolve an ambiguity in an insurance policy. And so we come at last to *Excelsior Insurance Company v. Pomona Park Bar and Package Store*, 369 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1979), the Eleventh Circuit's candidate for that proposition. The question is whether *Excelsior* did so.

The first thing to understand about the policy in *Excelsior* is that it was *not* ambiguous. *Excelsior* specifically held that the exclusion *unambiguously* barred any coverage for the suit against the licensees. The insured had failed to demonstrate any lack of clarity in the exclusion. The opinion leaves no doubt that the ambiguity principle had no effect on the holding. So any discussion within the opinion about admitting evidence to resolve an ambiguity would be the purest—the most unadulterated—form of *obiter dictum* imaginable. That is, it *would* be *if* there had been such a discussion within *Excelsior*.

But there is not. This Court rejected the insured's argument that, because the whole business of the insured involved the sale of intoxicating beverages, the exclusion effectively barred *all* coverage under the policy. This Court held that the exclusion plainly disclaimed coverage *only for suits against the licensee claiming a violation of liquor laws that actually caused injury*. Therefore the policy actually

provided coverage for other kinds of claims against the licensee, such as slip-and-fall, or even a liquor law violation not causing injury—contrary to the insured's contention. As this Court explained:

"Neither does it avail [the insured] that ambiguities and inconsistencies in a contract are to be interpreted against the draftsman or, as started in the context of insurance law, construed in favor of the insured. There are important qualifications to the rule that prohibit its application here. Only when a genuine inconsistency, uncertainty, or ambiguity in meaning remains after resort to the ordinary rules of construction is the rule apposite. It does not allow courts to rewrite contracts, add meaning that is not present, or otherwise reach results contrary to the intentions of the parties. Moreover, even were we to find that the policy is ambiguous, that is susceptible of both [the insured's] and Excelsior's interpretations, we would still have to prefer Excelsior's interpretation because it maintains the widest range of coverage and is therefore actually the more favorable to the insured." [e.s., c.o.]

369 So.2d at 942. This Court clearly held that the ambiguity principle was did not govern the outcome; indeed the policy provided more coverage than the *insured* had argued.

Because the plain meaning of the policy was clear, no inconsistent meanings needed to be resolved. There is not a single word within *Excelsior* distinctly capable of being read to hold that extrinsic evidence should be considered to clarify or resolve an ambiguity before an actual ambiguity may properly be determined. In fact there is nothing in the *Excelsior* opinion that even uses the words "extrinsic evidence". The Eleventh Circuit's interpretation of *Excelsior*—

urged upon it by adept counsel—rests only on counsel's advocacy and finds utterly no textual support within *Excelsior*.

To be sure, *Excelsior* did make the point about ascertaining ambiguity first made by this Court in *Aetna* and repeated several times since. It has to do with the methodology for properly determining whether there is a true ambiguity in the policy. An ambiguity exists only when there is a genuine lack of clarity in policy text *after* ordinary interpretive tools have been employed to reconcile what may seem to be inconsistent textual provisions. The teaching here is that there are interpretive rules and linguistic guides generally used to determine the plain meaning of a writing, and they must be employed if necessary before the policy may be deemed ambiguous. ¹⁰ Genuine ambiguity can be found to exist only when

Francis Bennio, STATUTORY INTERPRETATION 805 (2d ed. 1992). On the other hand, because the *substantive* canons may involve doctrinal, public policy values,

⁹ 369 So.2d at 941 ("Every provision in a contract should be given meaning and effect, and apparent inconsistencies reconciled if possible"); *Aetna*, 100 So. at 803 ("contracts are subject to the same rules of construction applied to other contracts, and language used in a "policy of insurance is to be given its popular and usual significance, unless the context requires a different construction.")

¹⁰ In this, the Court refers primarily to context, the rules of grammar and the linguistic canons. The linguistic canons are widely employed in many disciplines to find the plain meaning of a writing:

[&]quot;A linguistic canon of construction reflects the nature or use of language generally. It does not depend on the legislative character of the enactment in question, nor indeed on its quality as a legal pronouncement. It applies in much the same way to all forms of language ... Linguistic canons of construction are not confined to statutes, or even to the field of law. They are based on the rules of logic, grammar, syntax and punctuation; and the use of language as a medium of communication generally."

every effort within these ordinary interpretive concepts fails to explain text argued to be unclear.

Properly analyzed *Excelsior* makes the use of extrinsic evidence for insurance ambiguities absurd. If the ambiguity principle rests on the duty of clarity imposed on insurance companies to draft their standard form policies to be clear in every way, what is the rationale for resolving the lack of clarity by outside evidence of meaning? Why consider hearing extrinsic evidence when the insurer has failed in a duty imposed by law to draft clearly? Conceptually the admission of extrinsic evidence is simply incoherent with the legal duty imposed. Indeed it would actually encourage deliberate indifference to clarity by allowing the carrier to rely on the second chance to explain what it wants the policy to mean.

We reiterate. Apart from the fact that the discussion of extrinsic evidence is immaterial to the result in *Excelsior* because of the lack of ambiguity, there is nothing in *Excelsior* retreating from the rule that originated in *L'Engle*. Nor is there any statement or *holding* in *Excelsior* that before the policy may construed in favor of the insured the court must first consider extrinsic evidence from the insurer for any purpose. When properly understood, the *Excelsior* text relied on by the Eleventh Circuit merely directs courts first to reconcile apparent

and other subjective considerations, they may be generally inappropriate to find the intent of parties to a contract and, under the ambiguity principle, are thus categorically unavailable to interpret (or for the *construction* of) insurance policies.

inconsistencies in policy text before settling on an ambiguity. Nothing even remotely suggests that the insurer can be relieved of its duty of clarity in policy text by adducing evidence—and after a claim has been made at that!—indicating some meaning contrary to coverage reasonably found within the policy.

After Excelsior, all the cases are the same. The very next is State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Pridgen, 498 So.2d 1245, 1248 (Fla. 1986), where notwithstanding the absence of ambiguity, Pridgen quoted the principle and actually cited Excelsior as authority for it. Indeed, if the Eleventh Circuit had read only Pridgen it might have wondered how it could be said Excelsior had qualified it in any way.

Next in *Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Company v. Swindal*, 622 So.2d 467, 470 (Fla. 1993), this Court applied the ambiguity principle to construe an intentional injury exclusion in a homeowner's policy in favor of insured; citing *Gulf Life, Stuyvesant* and *Poole*. Four years later, in *Berkshire Life Insurance Company v. Adelberg*, 698 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1997), this Court lucidly stated:

"It has long been a tenet of Florida insurance law that an insurer, as the writer of an insurance policy, is bound by the language of the policy, which is to be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer. ... In construing this policy, we simply give the term 'your occupation' the meaning that an average buyer of an insurance policy would give to the term. Berkshire's contention that 'your

¹¹ This, the case that the Eleventh Circuit and petitioner think stands for extrinsic evidence!

occupation' should be read to mean any sales position rather than the sales position Adelberg held at the time he was injured is not a distinction made by Berkshire in writing its policy. If this was Berkshire's intent, the company should have so stated in unambiguous language.

. . .

The principle of the law is *firmly imbedded in the jurisprudence of this State* that contracts of insurance should be construed most favorably to the insured. ... "[e.s.]

698 So.2d at 830. Again, as against this clear statement, how could *Excelsior* be so misunderstood? Moreover, in *Container Corp. of America v. Maryland Casualty Company*, 707 So.2d 733, 736 (Fla. 1998), decided the next year, this Court determined that the "additional insured" clause had to be construed in favor of the insured, citing *Rigel*.

The next decision is important on its own. *Deni Associates of Florida Inc. v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Insurance Company*, 711 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 1998), is relevant here for the first of its two holdings. In this first holding, this Court found no ambiguity in an absolute pollution exclusion, quoting *Pridgen*'s statement that:

"provisions which are ambiguous or otherwise susceptible to more than one meaning must be construed in favor of the insured, since it is the insurer who usually drafts the policy. See Excelsior Insurance Co. v. Pomona Park Bar & Package Store, 369 So.2d 938, 942 (Fla.1979). However, '[o]nly when a genuine inconsistency, uncertainty, or ambiguity in meaning remains after resort to the ordinary rules of construction is the rule apposite. It does not allow courts to rewrite contracts, add meaning that is not present, or otherwise reach results contrary to the intentions of the parties.' "12

¹² Deni, 711 So.2d at 1138; Pridgen, 498 So.2d at 1248.

At that point, this Court rejected an argument for admitting extrinsic evidence under the "latent ambiguity" doctrine originating in probate contests about the meaning of a last will and testament. This court flatly asserted that the "latent ambiguity" doctrine "could never serve [e.s.] as a means for circumventing the plain language of the pollution exclusion clause." 711 So.2d at 1139. Obviously its holding and rationale on the latent argument are equally pertinent to any other ambiguity in an insurance policy. Sometimes never really does mean never.

Another case from that year is *State Farm Fire and Casualty Company v. CTC Development Corp.*, 720 So.2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1998), where the undefined term "accident" in a contractor's liability policy was reasonably subject to differing interpretations and construed in favor of the insured, this Court citing *Container Corp.* and *Pridgen*. That was followed two years later by *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 756 So.2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000), acknowledged by the Eleventh Circuit as holding foursquare for the ambiguity principle.

Swire Pacific Holdings Inc. v. Zurich Insurance Company, 845 So.2d 161 (Fla. 2003), applied the ambiguity principle (cited Auto-Owners, Prudential and Pridgen), adding that "simply because a provision is complex and requires analysis for application, it is not automatically rendered ambiguous." That is the same point previously made in Aetna and Excelsior.

In nearly successive years came Travelers Indemnity Company v. PCR Inc., 889

So.2d 779, 785-86 (Fla. 2004), Taurus Holdings Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty Company, 913 So.2d 528, 532 (Fla. 2005), and Garcia v. Federal Insurance Company, 969 So.2d 288, 291, 291-92 (Fla. 2007). Travelers held in favor of the insured, finding an inconsistency between a coverage clause and an exclusionary clause, citing Swire and Auto-Owners. Taurus held that the policy was not ambiguous, stating the ambiguity principle and citing Swire, Auto-Owners and Deni, but stressed that the policy must actually be ambiguous, again citing Excelsior and Pridgen. Garcia also held there was no ambiguity after stating the ambiguity principle, adding an important principle relating to ascertaining plain meaning, namely that "we may consult references commonly relied upon to supply the accepted meanings of words." 969 So.2d 288 at 291-92.

In *U.S. Fire Insurance Company v. J.S.U.B., Inc.*, 979 So.2d 871, 877 (Fla. 2007), this Court found no ambiguity between the coverage and exclusions in a general contractor's CGL policy providing both products and completed operations coverage for an occurrence. The opinion states the ambiguity principle, citing *Taurus*, but adds that courts must read coverage and exclusions together, citing *Auto-Owners* and *CTC*. Only two years ago in *Penzer v. Transportation Insurance Company*, 29 So.3d 1000 (Fla. 2010), this Court held there was an ambiguity and stated the ambiguity principle, citing *U.S. Fire, Taurus, Garcia*, and *Auto-Owners*. *Penzer* contains a discussion of a linguistic canon (the last antecedent) in

ascertaining plain meaning.

Finally, there were two cases only last year: *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Menendez*, 70 So.3d 566, 570 (Fla. 2011), and *Chandler v. Geico Indemnity Company*, 78 So.3d 1293, 1299-1300 (Fla. 2011). *Menendez* held there was no ambiguity and that the household exclusion unambiguously barred the passenger's claim, citing *Travelers. Chandler*, too, found no ambiguity and cited *Auto-Owners*, *Swire*, *Penzer* and *Garcia*.

So there we have it. Perhaps an exhaustive listing and examination of all this Court's insurance cases involving the ambiguity principle. It demonstrates with utter clarity that there is no conflict in holdings anywhere along the line. For more than a century, this Court has unrelentingly applied the unqualified ambiguity principle first found in *L'Engle* in 1904, from which it has not receded or changed in any direct, express holding since then. The Court has also made clear in so doing that any reliance on extrinsic evidence would be entirely incompatible with the rationale behind the principle.

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